THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In The Supreme Court

FEB 18 2015

APPEAL FROM HORRY COUNTY S.C. COURT
Court of General Sessions

The Honorable Edward B. Cottingham, Sr., Circuit Court Judge

Appellate Case No.: 2014-001496
Opinion No.: 5214 (S.C. Ct. App. filed April 2, 2014)

The State,

Respondent,

v.

Alton Wesley Gore, Jr.,

Petitioner.

**BRIEF OF PETITIONER
ALTON WESLEY GORE, JR.**

**Nicole Nicolette Mace
Amy K. Raffaldt**
The Mace Firm
1341 44th Avenue North, Suite 205
Myrtle Beach, SC 29577
843.839.2900 Telephone
843.839.2913 Fax
**nen@themacefirm.com
akr@themacefirm.com**

Attorneys for Petitioner

RECEIVED

FEB 18 2015

S.C. SUPREME COURT

STATEMENT OF ISSUES

1. Whether the Court of Appeals erred in concluding that the admission of prejudicial photographs depicting Gore holding up a large amount of United States currency was harmless error when evidence was introduced corroborating Gore's contention that he did not reside at the residence and such an admission affected his constitutional right to a fair and impartial jury.
2. Whether the Court of Appeals erred in holding that Gore's motion pursuant to *Franks v. Delaware* was properly denied when the affidavit in support of the search warrant failed specify a date for the allegations as required by *State v. Winborne*, falsely indicated that the controlled buys occurred within seventy-two hours of one another, failed to establish a link between the alleged illegal activity and residence to be searched and was not supported by probable cause.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Alton Wesley Gore, Jr. was the defendant in the Court of General Sessions for the Fifteenth Judicial Circuit in Horry County, South Carolina and will be referred to by name or as the petitioner. The Respondent, the State of South Carolina, will be referred to as the State.

Detective Jesse Ard of the Horry County Police Department drafted an affidavit on February 28, 2010 seeking a search warrant for a residence located in Longs, South Carolina. (App. 27). A search warrant was issued on February 28, 2010. (App. 28). Officers searched the residence and retrieved evidence indicating drug activity. (App. 29). An indictment was returned on June 24, 2010, and charged that Gore did knowingly, sell, deliver, purchase or bring into this State, or aid, abet, attempt, or conspire to sell, deliver, purchase or bring into this State a quantity

of cocaine in an amount of 200 grams or more, but less than 400 grams in violation of Section 44-53-370(e)(2)(d).

On February 23, 2011, Gore moved for an evidentiary hearing pursuant to *Franks v. Delaware*, 438 U.S. 154 (1978) alleging that the search warrant affidavit was insufficient. (App. 20-22). A hearing was held on March 15, 2011 and the trial court denied Gore's motion finding that the affidavit was not false or misleading and was supported by probable cause. (App. 4-5). A jury trial was held on January 5, 2012 and the jury found Gore guilty of trafficking cocaine. (App. 237, lines 6-9). Gore was sentenced to a term of twenty-five years imprisonment and fined \$100,000.00. (App. 242, lines 2-4). Gore filed a timely Notice of Appeal on January 12, 2012.

Gore filed his Initial Brief of Appellant on November 2, 2012. Respondent filed its Initial Brief of Respondent on March 11, 2013 and Gore filed his Initial Reply Brief on April 24, 2013. Gore filed the Final Brief of Appellant and Final Reply Brief of Appellant on May 21, 2013 and Respondent filed its Final Brief of Respondent on June 7, 2013. (App. 246, 279, 306). Oral arguments were held on December 10, 2013 before the South Carolina Court of Appeals. On April 2, 2014, the Court of Appeals entered its opinion affirming the decision of the trial court. *State v. Gore*, 408 S.C. 237, 758 S.E.2d 717 (Ct. App. 2014). Gore filed a petition for rehearing on April 18, 2014. (App. 327). On June 19, 2014, the South Carolina Court of Appeals entered its Order denying the petition for rehearing. (App. 342). Gore filed a Writ of Certiorari with this Court on August 22, 2014. This Court granted the Writ of Certiorari on January 16, 2015, and this Brief of Petitioner follows.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

A. Statement of Facts Relevant to *Franks* Motion

During the pre-trial hearing held on March 15, 2011, defense counsel challenged the affidavit dated February 28, 2010 that provided for the execution of the search warrant at a residence located in Longs, South Carolina. (App. 27). He argued that the affidavit contained information that was either deliberately false or a reckless disregard for the truth requiring an evidentiary hearing pursuant to *Franks v. Delaware*, 438 U.S. 154 (1978). (App. 31, line 16-32, line 25). The affidavit stated the following:

A confidential and reliable informant made a buy for cocaine out of the residence while being recorded and monitored by agents in the area. Also within the last seventy-two hours agents followed the Defendant from the residence to another location, and were able to monitor and record another buy for cocaine.

(App 27). Defense counsel challenged both allegations. (App. 20-22).

Defense counsel argued that the affidavit failed to specify the date the first allegation occurred as required in *State v. Winborne*. (App. 32, lines 20-23). The drug transaction described in the first sentence actually occurred on July 23, 2009, seven months prior to the execution of the affidavit. (App. 21). Defense counsel also challenged the second allegation of the affidavit, arguing that, like the first allegation, the affidavit failed to specify a date and time for the second drug transaction. (App. 33, lines 22-23). He also stated that this sentence immediately followed the first allegation indicating that the buy occurred within seventy-two hours of the first buy. (App. 34, lines 2-11). However, the second buy actually occurred on February 25, 2010, over seven months after the first buy. (App. 24).

The State claimed that the officers informed the magistrate of the dates and times. (App. 38, lines 7-12). It stated that the second buy was a “refresh buy” that would allow law enforcement

to meet the close time and proximity requirements for the warrant. (App. 38, lines 12-16). Defense counsel explained that the second allegation was not sufficient to establish probable cause to search the residence. (App. 39, lines 1-5). Rather, he argued that the first allegation was added to establish probable cause even though the officers were aware that the buy occurred seven months prior to the execution of the warrant. (App. 39, lines 3-5). Defense counsel argued that the second allegation would not establish probable cause because there was no allegation in the affidavit that the drugs came from the residence. (App. 40, lines 11-13). The Circuit Court informed counsel that it could consider testimony given to the magistrate at the time the search warrant was issued. (App. 39, lines 6-11). Defense counsel suggested that the magistrate testify, but the trial court denied such a request:

THE COURT: But in a motion to—the Motion to Suppress, I not only can take the matters that are set forth in the Affidavit that’s presented to the Magistrate and signed by the Magistrate, Judge Mayers, I can take into consideration whatever testimony was given to the Magistrate at the time that the Search Warrant was issued.

MR. TRUSLOW: Yes sir. Yes, the Magistrate could testify and provide oral supplementation as to what he was told.

THE COURT: Or the Officers can testify as to what they testified and what they told the Magistrate, okay.

(App. 39, lines 6-16).

The Circuit Court heard testimony from the affiant of the affidavit, Detective Jesse Ard. (App. 41, lines 21-23). Detective Ard testified that the investigation was lengthy and since the first buy occurred seven months prior, he decided to do a “refresher buy” to obtain a search warrant for the residence. (App. 42, lines 5-16). He stated that he informed the judge about the lengthy investigation as well as the dates and times. (App. 42, lines 19-23). When asked why the dates and times were not included in the affidavit, Detective Ard said that it was customary to exclude

the date in order to keep the informants' identities confidential. (*Id.*) He also stated that he told the magistrate that they were unable to make another buy from inside the residence. (App. 43, lines 21-24). However, during cross-examination, there were several occasions in which Detective Ard could not recollect what the magistrate was told prior to the execution of the warrant:

Q. I'm asking you, did you tell Judge Mayers that the Defendant came out of his residence and got in the vehicle? Did you tell that to the Judge?

A. I don't remember the specific conversation, but I—yes, it was to the fact that we observed him leave his residence.

...

Q. All right. Do you recall telling the Judge whether or not he was carrying any kind of bag or anything with him? Do you know if you told the Judge that?

A. I do not recall that I seen him carrying a bag. I do not.

Q. All right. And you don't remember whether or not you saw him enter the residence, only come out?

A. I do not remember that. I do remember that we did — we did identify him get in a vehicle. I don't remember the specific vehicle that it was. We did follow it.

Q. But just again—I'm summing it all up here. You testified you don't recall if you were specific with the Judge about that, in terms of him going in the house or coming out of the house and getting in the vehicle?

A. I do not recall. I do not recall.

(App. 46, line 22-47, line 2; App. 48, lines 10-24).

The Circuit Court denied Gore's motion for a *Franks* hearing and his motion to suppress and found the statements contained in the affidavit to be true and that probable cause was established. (App. 52, line 24-53, line 14). The Court of Appeals agreed with Gore that the date and time of the first buy was improperly omitted:

We agree with Gore's argument that the first allegations in the affidavit improperly omitted the date and time of the drug transaction. The statement reads: "A confidential and reliable informant made a buy for cocaine out of the residence while being recorded and monitored by agents in the area." This phrase indicates only that a controlled buy was made at the residence on at least one occasion in the past. It gives no indication of how long ago the transaction occurred, which the supreme court in *Winborne* held is necessary to establish probable cause for a search warrant.

Gore, 408 S.C. 237, 758 S.E.2d at 721. However, despite the improper omission, the Court of Appeals found that it was sufficient under *Franks* that Detective Ard orally supplemented the affidavit and informed the magistrate of the dates of the controlled buys. *Id.* It found that for Gore to meet the first prong under *Franks*, he had to establish that "Detective Ard included a deliberate falsehood or recklessly disregarded the truth in an effort to make the affidavit misleading to the magistrate." *Id.* at 237, 758 S.E.2d at 722.

B. Statement of Facts Relevant to Admission of Prejudicial Photographs

During Gore's trial which commenced on January 5, 2012, the State sought to introduce two photographs of Gore in which he appeared to be holding up a large amount of United States currency. (App. 80, lines 10-18). Defense counsel argued that the photographs were irrelevant, but even if they were relevant, the prejudicial effect outweighed the probative value of the photographs. (App. 80, lines 7-9). Throughout the trial, defense counsel argued that Angel Deangelo, who was Gore's girlfriend at the time, actually lived in the residence. (App. 59, lines 2-16). Defense counsel informed the trial court that "the issue is it's not relevant because Ms. Deangelo could've had a picture of him so how does that put him in the house." (App. 81, lines 11-13). Further, defense counsel argued that the photographs were prejudicial because "[h]e's not holding drugs but it makes him look as if he's holding a bunch of money. Nobody knows who took that photograph." (App. 80, lines 10-11). The State claimed that the photographs were "relevant

because it goes to his identity. It puts him in the house.” (App. 80, lines 21-22). While there were other non-prejudicial photographs of Gore located at the residence, the trial court allowed the photographs of Gore holding a large amount of United States currency to be admitted as evidence. (App. 81, lines 14-18; App. 110, lines 1-3).

The Court of Appeals agreed with Gore’s arguments on appeal and found that the trial court’s admission of the photographs was improper as they were unnecessary and invited the jury to infer criminal disposition. *Gore*, 408 S.C. at 249-50, 758 S.E.2d at 723. However, the Court of Appeals found the error was harmless because there was overwhelming evidence that Gore resided in the residence. *Id.*

ARGUMENT

I. The Court of Appeals erred in holding that the admission of the prejudicial photographs depicting Gore holding up a large amount of United States currency was harmless error.

A. Standard of Review

The trial court’s admission of evidence is viewed under an abuse of discretion standard. *State v. Dickerson*, 395 S.C. 101, 116, 716 S.E.2d 895, 903 (2011).

B. The trial court erred in admitting photographs depicting Gore holding up a large amount of United States currency and the admission of the photographs greatly prejudiced Gore.

Rule 401 of the South Carolina Rules of Evidence defines “relevant evidence” as “evidence having any tendency to make the existence of any fact that is of consequence to the determination of the action more probable or less probable than it would be without the evidence.” “Evidence which is not relevant is not admissible.” Rule 402, SCRE. However, even if relevant, evidence should be excluded “if its probative value is substantially outweighed by the danger of unfair prejudice, confusion of the issues, or misleading the jury, or by considerations of undue delay,

waste of time, or needless presentation of cumulative evidence.” Rule 403, SCRE. To be classified as unfairly prejudicial, photographs must have a “tendency to suggest a decision on an improper basis, commonly, though not necessarily, an emotional one.” *State v. Torres*, 390 S.C. 618, 623, 703 S.E.2d 226, 228-29 (2010) (quoting *State v. Franklin*, 318 S.C. 47, 55, 456 S.E.2d 357, 361 (1995)).

Detective Cooper with the Horry County Police Department testified that he saw two photographs of Gore with money in his hands at the residence. (App. 79, lines 13-19.) Defense counsel immediately requested to take up the issue outside the presence of the jury. (App. 79, lines 21-24.) Defense counsel made the following objections:

I was given this late in discovery in November in this case. My understanding was that was not gonna be used by the State. And those premarked photographs that were gonna be used—I would submit that that photo is irrelevant. First of all, if there’s any relevance to it that any probative value is outweighed by the prejudice of it. He’s not holding drugs but it makes him look as if he’s holding a bunch of money. Nobody knows who took that photograph—

(App. 80, lines 4-12.) The photographs were retrieved from a dresser in the master bedroom of the residence. (App. 84, lines 1-5). While there were other photographs of Gore located at the residence, the State argued that the photographs were necessary to establish Gore’s identity and connection to the residence. (App. 80, lines 21-22). Over defense counsel's objection that the photographs were irrelevant and unduly prejudicial, the trial court allowed the State to introduce the two photographs of Gore. (App. 80, line 1-82, line 25; App. 243-44).

The photographs of Gore appearing to hold up a large amount of currency were not relevant because there was no indication as to when the photographs were taken or by whom. (App. 85, lines 10-11). The photographs appear to be old, taken well before the date of the criminal conduct alleged in the indictment and were not taken from inside residence. (App. 85, lines 6-24, App.

243-244). Furthermore, it did not have any relation to Gore and any alleged illegal drug activity. (App. 85, lines 20-25). Rather, these photographs were introduced merely arouse the prejudice of the jury. “[P]hotographs calculated to arouse the sympathy or prejudice of the jury should be excluded if they are irrelevant or not necessary to substantiate material facts or conditions.” *State v. Jackson*, 364 S.C. 329, 334, 613 S.E.2d 374, 376 (2005). The photographs were admitted solely to lure the jury to decide the case on an improper basis as the State had other photographs of Gore that were found in the residence that could have been introduced in lieu of these prejudicial photographs. (App. 68, lines 12-19; App. 109, line 23-110, line 4.) In fact, the Louisiana Court of Appeal has considered a remarkably similar issue in *State v. Barnes*, 790 So.2d 641 (La. Ct. App. 2001). In that case, a photograph depicting the defendant holding money spread into a fan shape in his hand was admitted into evidence. *Barnes*, 790 So.2d at 655. The Court found that the photograph was irrelevant and that its probative value was substantially outweighed by its prejudicial effect as it “show[ed] the defendant in a negative light, indicating an association with . . . money . . . which might be considered [an] attribute[] of a drug user.” *Id.* A defendant has a right to a fair and impartial jury. U.S. Const. amend. VI; S.C. Const. art. I, § 14. Like in *Barnes*, the photographs the State introduced suggested that because Gore possessed and displayed what appeared to be a large amount of United States currency at some point he must be involved in drug activity. Notably, the Court of Appeals agreed that these photographs were improperly admitted:

Gore contends the circuit court erred in admitting two photographs, which depicted him holding large sums of United States currency. We agree with Gore. . . .

. . .

Gore claims these photographs were not taken inside the residence, there were other seized photographs of Gore in the residence that were not prejudicial, and the photographs invited the jury to infer criminal disposition. We agree and find these photos were

unnecessary to link Gore to the residence, particularly when other photographs in evidence accomplished this purpose and several other witnesses testified Gore lived at the residence.

Gore, 408 S.C. at 248-50, 758 S.E.2d at 723. Despite its finding that the trial court's admission of the photographs was improper as they were unnecessary and invited the jury to infer criminal disposition, the Court of Appeals found that this error was harmless given the overwhelming evidence of Gore's guilt.

To the contrary, the evidence against Gore was not overwhelming. There was substantial testimony and evidence establishing that Angel Deangelo, rather than Gore, was living in the residence and was involved in drug activity. First, Detective Kent testified that Deangelo came to the residence while he was executing the warrant. Kent told her to leave. Deangelo adamantly stated that she lived at the residence and refused to leave. (App. 57, lines 12-19). Notably, Deangelo admitted that she made such a statement. (App. 164, lines 23-25). Second, Deangelo acknowledged that she had continued staying at the residence even after her arrest. (App. 146, lines 1-11). Third, the pictures depicted Deangelo's personal effects at the residence. (App. 139, lines 9-11). In particular, the pictures showed Deangelo's flat iron in the bathroom of the master bedroom. (*Id.*) Fourth, at the time of Deangelo's arrest, she had a large amount of United States currency in her possession. (App. 110, lines 15-17). Fifth, Deangelo had asked Gore's trial counsel to represent her child's father on drug charges, indicating her continued involvement in drug activity. (App. 156, lines 6-20). Sixth, Gore's driving record indicated that he lived at a different address in Little River, South Carolina. (App. 61, line 22-62, line 10). Seventh, Detective Donald admitted that he had no documentation such as a lease agreement, title or invoice which connected Gore to the residence. (App. 113, lines 11-13.)

Given the evidence and testimony indicating that Gore's girlfriend was residing at the

residence rather than Gore, the trial court's admission of the photographs was not harmless error as the Court of Appeals suggested. Gore was entitled to a fair and impartial jury and the admission of the prejudicial photographs greatly affected his substantial rights. Therefore, Gore's conviction should be reversed as the Court of Appeals erred in failing to set aside Gore's conviction.

II. The Court of Appeals erred in finding that the trial court properly denied Gore's motion for a *Franks* hearing because the affidavit contained information that was false and/or in reckless disregard for the truth and was not enough to establish probable cause to search the residence.

"Under both the United States and South Carolina constitutions, search warrants may not be issued except 'upon probable cause, supported by Oath or affirmation,' and particularly describing the place to be searched and the persons or things to be seized." *State v. Thompson*, 363 S.C. 192, 199, 609 S.E.2d 556, 560 (Ct. App. 2005) (quoting U.S. Const. amend. IV; S.C. Const. art. I, § 10). The warrant must be supported by an "affidavit sworn to before the magistrate, municipal judicial officer, or judge of a court of record" S.C. Code. Ann. § 17-13-140. "In reviewing the validity of a warrant, an appellate court may consider only information brought to the magistrate's attention." *Thompson*, 363 S.C. at 200, 609 S.E.2d at 560.

A. The Court of Appeals erred in finding that Gore was not entitled to a *Franks* hearing.

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