RECEIVED

MAR 16 2015

S.C. Supreme Court

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In the Supreme Court

Appeal from Horry County
The Honorable Edward B. Cottingham, Sr., Circuit Court Judge

Opinion No. 5214 (S.C. Ct. App. filed 4/2/14)
Appellate Case No. 2014-001496

THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA,

RESPONDENT,

v.

ALTON WESLEY GORE, JR.,

PETITIONER.

BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

ALAN WILSON
Attorney General

CHRISTINA CATOE BIGELOW
Assistant Attorney General
S.C. Bar No. 73562

Post Office Box 11549
Columbia, SC 29211
(803) 734-3737

ATTORNEYS FOR RESPONDENT

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

ARGUMENT

- I. The trial judge properly allowed into evidence two photographs of Petitioner which were relevant to proving he was a resident of the house and that the bedroom in which the photographs were found was Petitioner's. However, even assuming the trial judge erred by admitting the photographs, the error was harmless in the context of the entire case and considering the overwhelming evidence of Petitioner's guilt.**

It was Within the Trial Judge's Discretion to Admit the Photographs

In this case, despite the fact that the Court of Appeals concluded it was error to admit the photographs in question, the State maintains its position that the trial judge did not abuse his discretion by admitting the photographs. "The relevancy, materiality, and admissibility of photographs as evidence are matters left to the sound discretion of the trial court." State v. Holder, 382 S.C. 278, 290, 676 S.E.2d 690, 697 (2009) (quoting State v. Nance, 320 S.C. 501, 508, 466 S.E.2d 349, 353 (1996)). "A trial judge has considerable latitude in ruling on the admissibility of evidence and his rulings will not be disturbed absent a showing of probable prejudice." State v. Kelley, 319 S.C. 173, 177, 460 S.E.2d 368, 370 (1995). "It is well-settled in this state that '[i]f a photograph serves to corroborate testimony, it is not an abuse of discretion to admit it.'" State v. Torres, 390 S.C. 618, 623, 703 S.E.2d 226, 229 (2010) (citations omitted); see also State v. Todd, 290 S.C. 212, 214, 349 S.E.2d 339, 340 (1986) ("There is no abuse of discretion if the offered photograph serves to corroborate testimony."); State v. Holder, 382 S.C. 278, 290, 676 S.E.2d 690, 697 (2009). . However, photographs calculated to arouse the sympathy or prejudice of the jury should be excluded if they are irrelevant or not necessary to substantiate material facts or conditions. State v. Brazell, 325 S.C. 65, 78, 480 S.E.2d 64, 72 (1997). "To constitute unfair prejudice, the photographs must create 'an undue tendency to suggest a decision on an improper basis, commonly, though not necessarily, an

emotional one.” State v. Jackson, 364 S.C. 329, 334, 613 S.E.2d 374, 376 (2005) (quoting State v. Alexander, 303 S.C. 377, 382, 401 S.E.2d 146, 149 (1991)).

Here, State’s Exhibits 26 and 27 were relevant because they served as circumstantial evidence regarding a contested issue: whether or not Petitioner lived in the house and whether or not the bedroom where the cocaine was found was Petitioner’s. (See App’x p. 80-81). The photographs, which depicted Petitioner, were found inside a dresser in the master bedroom of the residence, the same bedroom where the cocaine was found. (App’x p. 84-85; p. 88-89). As the trial judge noted, “ordinarily, people who live in [a] house may have pictures of them[selves] in the house particularly if they have a girlfriend living there.” (App’x p. 81, lines 14-16). The photographs also served to corroborate the testimony of Detective Cooper, Corporal Ard, and Petitioner’s former girlfriend regarding photographs of Petitioner being located in the dresser of the master bedroom. (See App’x p. 68, lines 12-15; p. 109-110; p. 139-40). More specifically, the photographs corroborated Detective Cooper’s **un-objected-to** testimony regarding the particular content of the photographs – i.e., his testimony that there were two photos found in the bedroom depicting Petitioner squatting down and holding money in his hands. (App’x p. 79, lines 13-19).

Finally, contrary to Petitioner’s argument, the photographs were not so prejudicial that the probative value was substantially outweighed by the danger of unfair prejudice.¹ See Rule 403, SCRE. Indeed, considering that Petitioner did not object to testimony about

¹ Petitioner’s argument that “the State had other photographs of Gore that were found in the residence that could have been introduced in lieu of these prejudicial photographs” (Brief of Petitioner, p. 9) is not preserved because it was not made to the trial judge below, and in any event, this argument is speculative because there is nothing in the record showing the particular content of these other photographs and thus nothing to indicate these other photographs were in fact any less “prejudicial” than State’s Exhibits 26 and 27. (See App’x p. 79-84; p. 68, lines 12-19; p. 71, lines 15-20; p. 74, lines 18-20; p. 109, line 14 – p. 110, line 4; see also p. 138, line 9 – p. 140, line 9).

cash found in Petitioner's bedroom and cash found on Petitioner's person, it is difficult to understand why a photograph of Petitioner *holding* cash would be unduly prejudicial. (See App'x p. 68, lines 23-25; p. 75, lines 8-13; p. 98, lines 17-21; p. 110, lines 11-16). Moreover, any possible prejudice from the photographs was removed when the trial judge provided a contemporaneous limiting instruction informing the jurors that they could consider the photographs "only for the purpose of the testimony alleging that they were found on the premises and for **no other purpose.**" (App'x p. 84, lines 20-22) (emphasis added). See State v. Grovenstein, 335 S.C. 347, 353, 517 S.E.2d 216, 219 (1999) (jurors are presumed to follow the law as instructed to them); see also State v. Trotter, 317 S.C. 411, 414, 453 S.E.2d 905, 907 (Ct. App. 1995) ("The trial judge's limiting instruction regarding the nature of Busterna's testimony assured no prejudice would occur."); Judy v. Judy, 384 S.C. 634, 643-44, 682 S.E.2d 836, 841 (Ct. App. 2009) ("Furthermore, to the extent the admission of the prior judgment may have prejudiced Ronnie, we find any prejudice was alleviated when the trial court gave a limiting instruction to the jury as to the proper purpose for which the evidence of the prior judgment was to be used.").

Accordingly, the trial judge did not abuse his discretion by admitting the photographs. See State v. Quillien, 263 S.C. 87, 207 S.E.2d 814 (1974) ("It is a well-established rule of law that the trial judge has broad discretion concerning the admission of evidence. That discretion will not be overturned on appeal unless clearly abused."); State v. Stephens, 398 S.C. 314, 319-20, 728 S.E.2d 68, 71 (Ct. App. 2012) ("A trial judge's decision regarding the comparative probative value and prejudicial effect of evidence should be reversed only in 'exceptional circumstances.' We review a trial court's decision regarding Rule 403 pursuant to the abuse of discretion standard and are obligated to give great deference to the trial court's judgment. A trial judge's balancing decision under Rule

403 should not be reversed simply because an appellate court believes it would have decided the matter otherwise because of a differing view of the highly subjective factors of the probative value or the prejudice presented by the evidence. If judicial self-restraint is ever desirable, it is when a Rule 403 analysis of a trial court is reviewed by an appellate tribunal.”) (citation omitted).

Any Error was Harmless Beyond a Reasonable Doubt

However, assuming the photographs were unnecessary, the Court of Appeals properly concluded that their admission did not warrant a new trial in this case. Even if photographs are not relevant and thus wrongly admitted by a trial judge, their admission may constitute harmless error if the photographs do not affect the outcome of trial. See State v. Langley, 334 S.C. 643, 647-48, 515 S.E.2d 98, 100 (1992). Here, as discussed previously, the photographs were not unduly prejudicial and could not have inflamed the jury; therefore, even if unnecessary, they were “harmless surplusage.” Brazell, 325 S.C. at 79, 480 S.E.2d at 72; see also State v. Torres, 390 S.C. 618, 623, 703 S.E.2d 226, 229 (2010). In that vein, they were merely cumulative to the un-objected-to testimony of Detective Cooper, Corporal Ard, and Petitioner’s former girlfriend regarding the photographs being found in the dresser of the master bedroom. (See App’x p. 68, lines 12-15; p. 109-110; p. 139-140). Again, more specifically, the photographs were merely cumulative to Detective Cooper’s testimony regarding the particular content of the photographs, which was properly in the record because there was no objection and motion to strike regarding that testimony. (App’x p. 79, lines 13-19). See State v. Johnson, 298 S.C. 496, 498-99, 381 S.E.2d 732, 733 (1989) (“The admission of improper evidence is harmless where it is merely cumulative to other evidence.”). Finally, as mentioned previously, the trial judge provided a contemporaneous limiting instruction informing the

jurors that they could consider the photographs “only for the purpose of the testimony alleging that they were found on the premises and for no other purpose.” (App’x p. 84, lines 20-22). This instruction removed any possible harm from admission of the photographs because jurors are presumed to follow the instructions of the trial judge. Trotter, 317 S.C. at 414, 453 S.E.2d at 907; Judy, 384 S.C. at 643-44, 682 S.E.2d at 841.

Moreover, any error was harmless due to the overwhelming evidence of Petitioner’s guilt. Although Petitioner’s counsel attempted to suggest through cross-examination that his girlfriend was the one who lived in the residence, the overwhelming evidence established that the residence was Petitioner’s. It was undisputed at trial that Petitioner’s mother was the owner of the house and that she permitted Petitioner to live there. (App’x p. 142, lines 13-21; p. 143, line 14 – p. 144, line 2; see p. 149-67 & p. 224-33). It was also undisputed that Petitioner’s girlfriend had a separate residence in North Carolina and she presented her lease agreement regarding her North Carolina residence at trial. (See App’x p. 126-27; p. 155, lines 10-13). Petitioner’s girlfriend testified that around the time of Petitioner’s arrest, she was going to school and working in North Carolina during the day and driving down to spend three or four nights per week with Petitioner at his house. (App’x p. 129-30). This testimony was also undisputed. (See App’x p. 155, lines 10-13; p. 163, line 10 – p. 164, line 5).

Prior to executing the search warrant, police obtained a key to the house from Petitioner. (App’x p. 58, lines 8-9; p. 91, lines 1-15). Petitioner’s vehicles were parked at the house. (App’x p. 110, line 19 – p. 111, line 3; p. 132, line 24 – p. 133, line 9). Police officers testified that based on their observations during the narcotics investigation, Petitioner lived at the residence. (App’x p. 55-56; p. 87-89). A clerk’s office employee testified that the address listed on Appellant’s bond document - which was signed by

Petitioner - was the address where the cocaine was found. (App'x p. 165-67). A home detention officer testified that he monitored Petitioner on bond from March 2010 through 2011; that Petitioner's address was the same address where the cocaine was found; and that he visited Petitioner at that address while monitoring him. (App'x p. 193-94). Finally, men's clothing was found in the master bedroom, and the master bedroom was where most of the cocaine was found hidden in a stack of *men's* pants. (See App'x p. 66-67; p. 93, lines 6-12; p. 185-87; see also p. 131-37). Significantly, although at trial Petitioner tried to insinuate that his girlfriend lived in the house, he never suggested that another *male* lived there. (See App'x. p. 224-33). Note also that after trial, in denying Petitioner's new trial motion, the trial judge stated that "the evidence is frankly overwhelming." (App'x p. 240, line 16).

In light of the overwhelming evidence of guilt, admission of State's Exhibits # 26 and # 27 could not reasonably have affected the outcome of Petitioner's trial. See State v. Elders, 386 S.C. 474, 486-87, 688 S.E.2d 857, 864 (Ct. App. 2010) (even though admitting certain evidence was error, the error was harmless in light of the overwhelming evidence of the defendant's guilt). Therefore, there was no reversible error with respect to admission of the photographs. See Brazell at 79, 480 S.E.2d at 72; State v. Robinson, 201 S.C. 230, 22 S.E.2d 587, 588-89 (1942); see also State v. Reeves, 301 S.C. 191, 194, 391 S.E.2d 241, 243 (1990) (an error is harmless if it could not reasonably have affected the result of the trial).

The *Barnes* Case from Louisiana is Distinguishable

In his Brief, Petitioner likens his case to the Louisiana case of State v. Barnes, 790 So.2d 651 (La. Ct. App. 2001).² In Barnes, law enforcement officers testified that while they were out investigating a complaint regarding narcotics activity on a particular block, they observed the defendant, upon spotting the officers, discard an object and run into a nearby residence. Barnes at 653. When officers picked up the discarded object and discovered it was a tin foil packet of heroin, they attempted to intercept the defendant. Id. One officer knocked on the front door of the residence while the other ran around to the back. Id. The person who answered the front door identified himself as the defendant's father and allowed the officers to search what the defendant's father said was the defendant's bedroom. Id. The officers found no drugs in the bedroom but found photographs of the defendant. Id. One of the photographs depicted the defendant standing alone holding a rifle, and another showed the defendant - posed with three other men in front of a painted backdrop of cars and night clubs - holding money spread into a fan shape in one hand while holding the middle finger of his other hand up to the camera, a gesture commonly known as "giving someone the finger." Id. at 655. At trial, the defendant presented testimony from several witnesses, including testimony that he did not in fact throw anything down when the officers approached and that the officers instead conducted a warrantless search of a truck parked in front of the residence. Id. at 653.

On appeal, the defendant contended that admission of the two photographs described above was reversible error, arguing that the photographs were not relevant since his identity was not at issue and, even if they were relevant, they should have been

² There is a typographical error on page 9 of Petitioner's Brief listing the citation as 790 So.2d 641 rather than 790 So.2d 651.

excluded because their probative value was clearly outweighed by their highly prejudicial nature. Id. at 654. The Louisiana Court of Appeals agreed with the defendant and reversed his conviction. The court held that because identity was not an issue and it was undisputed that the bedroom in question was the defendant's, the photographs were irrelevant. Id. at 654-55. The court also held that even if the photographs were relevant, their probative value was substantially outweighed by their prejudicial effect where the photographs were not benign as the state suggested but instead "clearly ha[d] a negative connotation" and could have easily been cropped (as requested by the defendant at trial) to accomplish the state's "ostensible purpose" of merely showing identity. Id. at 655. Finally, the court held that admission of the two photographs was not harmless error where the defendant's first trial resulted in a hung jury; where the defendant's second trial resulted in his conviction for the lesser-included offense of attempted possession rather than possession; and where the photographs showed the defendant "in a negative light, indicating an association with guns and money ... both of which might be considered as attributes of a drug user." Id. at 656.

Petitioner's case is completely distinguishable from Barnes for several reasons. First, unlike in Barnes, the photographs were found in the same bedroom in which the drugs were found. Second, Petitioner did not admit that the bedroom was his bedroom and did not admit that he lived in the residence. Third, the photographs in Petitioner's case did not have the same "negative connotation" present in the Barnes case. The two photographs in this case (which were essentially the same photo from two different angles) did show Petitioner holding money, but did not show Petitioner with any firearms and did not show Petitioner "giving the finger" to the camera. (See App'x p. 243). Furthermore, unlike in Barnes, there was unobjected-to testimony already in the record regarding the particular

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